
1ST NEW YORK DRAGOONS 
19TH NEW YORK VOLUNTEER CAVALRY REGIMENT 

 

JOSLYN CARBINE 

 

UNIT ISSUED TWICE 
& 

CONFEDERATE 
RECOVERED & REISSUED 

  

AZSWORDS.C
OM



JOSLYN CARBINE 
This Joslyn carbine, serial number 993, was used by 2 different soldiers from Company H, 19th New 
York Cavalry, known as the 1st New York Dragoons. It was first issued to Corporal George Dean, 
then to Private George Underhill after Dean was wounded at Manassas Junction and assigned to the 
Ambulance Corps. Underhill would be involved in several engagements and later lose the gun during 
the fighting at Trevillian Station Virginia on 12 June,1864 when he sustained a gunshot wound of the 
left leg. The carbine was later Confederate recovered off the battlefield; sent back to Richmond and 
went through the “C&R” Clean & Repair system at the Richmond Arsenal/Artillery Work shop; 
inspected by Lous Zimmer and marked with the letter “Z” on the underside, forward of the trigger tang. 
The gun is in great condition with expected bumps and dings and is fully functional. 
 
 

993C    092563 CO H 19TH NY VOL CAV 

George Dean 
 

Residence was not listed; 18 years old. 
 

Enlisted on 8/11/1862 at West Almond, NY as a Private. 
 

On 8/15/1862 he mustered into "H" Co. NY 1st Dragoons 
He was Mustered Out on 6/30/1865 at Cloud's Mills, VA 

 

Promotions: 
Corporal 9/3/1862 

 

Wounded at Manassas Junction & assigned to the Ambulance Corps 
 

Battles in which Corporal Dean carried this carbine 
 

Manassas Junction 
 

************************************************************ 

George Underhill 
 

Residence was not listed; 19 years old. 
 

Enlisted on 8/5/1862 at Allen, NY as a Private. 
 

On 9/3/1862 he mustered into "H" Co. NY 1st Dragoons  
He was Mustered Out on 1/30/1865 at Cloud's Mills, VA 

 

Wounded at Trevillian Station 
A bullet entered behind his left knee & exited above the foot while on horseback  

 
 

Battles in which Private Underhill carried this carbine 
 

Mine Run Campaign 
Demonstration on the Rapidan 

Barnett’s Ford 
Todd’s Tavern 

Spotsylvania Court House 
Yellow Tavern and Ground Squirrel Bridge 

Cold Harbor 
Trevillian Station 

 

Born in 1846 - Died in 1919 
Buried: Reynolds Twp Cemetery, Howard, Montcalm County, MI 

 

After the War he lived in Montcalm County, MI 
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Joslyn carbine 

 

 
 

serial number 993 
 

 
“C&R” Clean & Repair inspected by Lous Zimmer 

marked with the letter “Z” on the underside, forward of the trigger tang 
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130th New York Infantry Regiment 
The 130th New York Infantry Regiment served one year as infantry before converting to a cavalry 
regiment in 1863. 

1862 

August Organized at Portage, New York under the command of Colonel W.S. Fullerton, 
Lieutenant Colonel Thomas J. Thorp, and Major Rufus Scott 

September 2 The 130th New York Infantry Regiment mustered in under Lieutenant Colonel 
Thorp. Colonel Fullerton resigned on September 3. 

September 6 The regiment left the State for Suffolk, Virginia. The first stage was by train to 
Harrisburg in cattle cars, then on to Baltimore in coal cars, then to Washington. 
The regiment then sailed on the transport New York to Nortfolk, Virginia, then 
moved by train to Suffolk. 

Colonel Alfred Gibbs, a classmate of General McClellan in the West Point Class 
of 1846, was appointed by McClelland to command the regiment. Gibbs had 
served in the Regiment of Mounted Rifles in the Mexican War and in the Indian 
Wars on the Plains 

September – May Duty at Suffolk, Virginia attached to Provisional Brigade, Peck’s Division 
at Suffolk, 7th Corps, Department of Virginia. The swampy ground and bad 
drinking water caused much sickness, and every company lost some men to 
disease, including Captain Jeremiah Hatch of Company F. 

October Attached to Spinola’s Brigade, Peck’s Division at Suffolk, 7th Corps. 

December Attached to Gibbs’ Brigade, Peck’s Division at Suffolk, 7th Army Corps 

December 1-3 Expedition from Suffolk 

December 2 Action on the Blackwater near Franklin 

December 23 & 28 Reconnaissance from Suffolk to Blackwater 

December 28 Near Suffolk and at Providence Church 

1863 

January Attached to Terry’s Brigade, Peck’s Division at Suffolk, 7th Corps 

January 8-10 Expedition toward Blackwater AZSWORDS.C
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January 30 Battle of Deserted House 

The regiment lost Captain Taylor of Company C and 6 men killed, 2 officers and 
18 men wounded, and 2 men missing. Colonel Gibbs was under arrest for 
disputing with General Corcoran, but led the regiment in a charge bearing the 
colors. The regiment provided the rearguard of a skirmish line under Lieutenant 
Colonel Thorp as Union forces withdrew. 

April Attached to Terry’s Brigade, Corcoran’s 1st Division, 7th Corps 

April 12-May 4 Siege of Suffolk 

The regiment lost 2 men killed and 3 wounded during the siege. 

April 17 South Quay Road, Suffolk 

April 19 Suffolk 

May 3 Nansemond River 

May 4 Siege of Suffolk raised 

June 12 South Quay Road 

June 14 Franklin 

June 16-17 Blackwater 

June 24-July 7 Dix’s Peninsula Campaign 

Attached to 1st Brigade, 1st Division, 7th Corps 

July 1-7 Expedition from White House to South Anna River 

July 4 Baltimore Cross Roads 

July 11 Ordered to Washington, D.C. from Yorktown. Attached to Provost Marshal 
General’s Command, Army of the Potomac 

July 19 Ashby’s Gap 

August 3 The regiment moved by rail from Warrenton Junction to Union Mills, in order to 
form a camp of instruction to convert to a regiment of cavalry 

August 6 Went into camp at Manassas Junction 

August 11 Designation of Regiment changed to 19th New York Cavalry Regiment 
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19th New York Volunteer Cavalry Regiment 

1st New York Dragoons 

The 19th New York Cavalry Regiment, better known as the 1st New York Dragoons, lost 4 officers 
and 126 enlisted men killed or mortally wounded and 1 officer and 130 enlisted men to disease, a 
total of 261. 

1862 

August Organized at Portage, New York as the 130th New York Infantry Regiment. (see 
the link at left for a history of the regiment from August 1862- August 1863.) 

1863 

August 11 Designation of Regiment changed to 19th Cavalry 

September 10 Designation of Regiment changed to 1st Dragoons. Assigned to Reserve Cavalry 
Brigade, 1st Division, Cavalry Corps, Army of the Potomac 

September 13 The regiment received its horses 

September 13-
17 

Advance from the Rappahannock to the Rapidan under the command of Colonel 
Alfred Gibbs. 

September 22 Between Centreville and Warrenton 

October 17 Manassas Junction 

The regiment lost 3 men killed, 1 officer and 2 men wounded, and 1 man captured. 

October 18 Bristoe Station 

October 18-19 Buckland Mills 

November 7-8 Advance to line of the Rappahannock 

November 20 Culpeper Court House 

November 26-
December 2 

Mine Run Campaign 

December The regiment received about 60 recruits, and prepared winter quarters. Non sooner 
were they completed than the regiment was ordered a few miles away, and had to 
do the labor again. 

1864 

February 6-7 Demonstration on the Rapidan, Barnett’s Ford 

The regiment lost 3 killed and 8 wounded 
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February 28 – 
March 2 

A detachment of the regiment under Captains Hakes and Britton and Lieutenants 
Morey and Schlick took part in General Custer’s raid to Charlottesville. 

March Attached to 3rd (Reserve) Brigade, 1st Division, Cavalry Corps, Army of the 
Potomac 

April The regiment turned in its unreliable Joslyn carbines for Spencers 

May-June Rapidan Campaign 

May 5-7 Wilderness 

May 7-8 Todd’s Tavern 

The regiment suffered the heaviest loss of any cavalry regiment in any one 
engagement of the war. Fighting dismounted with carbines against Confederate 
infantry behind breastworks, it lost 20 killed, 36 wounded and 35 missing. 

May 8 Spotsylvania Court House 

May 9-24 Sheridan’s Raid to James River 

May 10 Davenport Bridge, North Anna River 

May 11 Yellow Tavern and Ground Squirrel Bridge 

May 12 Fortifications of Richmond and Meadow Bridge 

May 26-28 On line of the Pamunkey 

May 27 Hanovertown 

May 28 Haw’s Shop 

May 28-31 Totopotomoy 

May 30 Old Church and Mattadequi Creek 

May 31-June 6 Cold Harbor 

The regiment lost heavily holding the center of Sheridan’s line, including Major 
Scott, Captains Thorp and Leach, and Lieutenants Burr and Burlison, all wounded. 

June 7-24 Sheridan’s Trevillian Raid 

June 11-12 Trevillian Station 

The regiment suffered 16 killed, 61 wounded and 8 missing or captured, inclding 
Colonel Thorp, who was captured, and Captain Lemen, who was wounded. 

June 12 Newark or Mallory’s Ford Cross Roads 

June 21 White House or St. Peter’s Church and Black Creek or Tunstall’s Station 
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June 23 Jones’ Bridge 

June 24 Charles City Court House 

June 27-July 30 Before Petersburg and Richmond 

July 27-29 Demonstration north of the James River 

July 27-28 Deep Bottom 

July 28 Malvern Hill 

August 7-
November 28 

Sheridan’s Shenandoah Valley Campaign 

August 8 Crossed the Potomac at Harpers Ferry on the way to Shephardstown, returning to 
Harpers Ferry in the night 

August 10 Near Stone Chapel, Berryville Pike 

August 11 Tell Gate near White Post and Newtown 

The regiment held off Early’s army for most of the day, losing 29 killed and 
seriously wounded, including Major Scott, who was wounded. Major H. M. Smith 
would take command of the regiment. 

August 12 Cedar Creek 

August 13 and 
16 

Cedarville 

August 21 Summit Point 

August 25 Near Kearneysville and Shephardstown, Abandoned by the Regulars, the regiment 
was surrounded falling back towards the Potomac, but was rescued by the timely 
intervention of Custer’s brigade. 

August 28 Leetown and Smithfield 

August 29 Smithfield Crossing, Opequan Creek 

Lieutenant Alfred was killed, and Captain Hakes and Lieutenants Bayer and 
Crittenden were wounded. 

September Attached to 2nd Brigade, 1st Division, Cavalry Corps, Army of the Shenandoah. 
The regiment was glad to transfer away from a brigade mostly made up of U.S. 
Regulars, who they felt received most of the credit while doing little of the fighting. 

September 13 Bunker Hill 

September 15 Sevier’s Ford, Opequan Creek 
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September 19 Battle of Opequan, Winchester Captain Alexander K. Thorp (brother to the 
lieutenant colonel) was instantly killed by a bullet to the head. 

September 20 Middletown and Strasburg 

September 21 Fisher’s Hill 

September 23 Near Edenburg 

September 23-
24 

Front Royal, Mt. Jackson 

September 24 New Market 

September 26-
27 

Port Republic 

September 28 McGaugheysville 

October 2 Mr. Crawford 

October 8-9 Tom’s Brook, “Woodstock Races” 

October 14 Hupp’s Hill near Strasburg 

October 19 Battle of Cedar Creek 

Colonel Gibbs was promoted to brigadier general for his conduct at the battle. 

October 20 Fisher’s Hill 

October 22 Liberty Mills 

October 28 Berryville 

November 1 Near White Post 

November 11 Near Kernstown 

November 12 Newtown 

November 19 Cedar Creek 

November 28-
December 3 

Expedition from Winchester into Fauquier and Loudoun Counties 

November 29 Bloomfield 

December 17 Thomas J. Thorp was promoted to colonel. 

December 19-
28 

Expedition to Gordonsville 

AZSWORDS.C
OM



December 21 Liberty Mills 

The regiment captured two pieces of artillery in fighting in the bitter cold. 

December 22 Jack’s Shop 

December 23 Near Gordonsville 

1865 

February 27- 
March 25 

Sheridan’s Raid from Winchester 

March 2 Occupation of Staunton and Action at Waynesboro 

March 3 Near Charlottesville 

March 11 Goochland Court House 

March 28-April 
9 

Appomattox Campaign 

March 30-31 Dinwiddie Court House 

April 1 Battle of Five Forks 

The regiment lost 15 casualties, includng Major Smith and Captain Leach, 
wounded. 

April 2 Scott’s Cross Roads 

April 3 Deep Creek 

April 4 Tabernacle Church or Beaver Pond Creek 

April 6 Sailor’s Creek 

April 8 Appomattox Station 

April 9 Appomattox Court House 

Surrender of Lee and his army 

April 23-29 Expedition to Danville 

May March to Washington, D.C. 

May 23 Grand Review 

June 30 Mustered out at Cloud’s Mills, Va. under Colonel Thomas J. Thorp and honorably 
discharged from service. 
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Fight at Trevillian Station 
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HISTORY OF THE  

FIRST NEW YORK DRAGOONS 
HISTORY OF THE BRILLIANT CAREER OF THE 130TH VOLUNTEERS, OR FIRST NEW YORK 
DRAGOONS 

The month of July, 1862, will ever be remembered for the culmination, at Harrison’s Landing, of 
McClellan’s disastrous campaign on the Peninsula. A gigantic effort had been put forth, and had 
resulted in a signal failure. 

The call for men to fill up the decimated ranks, and to create an army adequate to the task of hurling 
back the hitherto resistless tide of rebellion, was imperative. Whole regiments sprang into existence 
as if by magic. At this time the 130th New York volunteers was organized. The regiment was made up 
of the sturdy yeomanry of Allegany, Wyoming, and Livingston counties. 

At the suggestion of General McClellan Alfred Gibbs (a classmate at West Point) was made colonel 
and commandant by the governor of New York. He brought with him the experience of twenty years’ 
service in the regular army. Thomas J. Thorp and Rufus Scott, who were appointed respectively 
lieutenant-colonel and major, had fought side by side in the hotly contested battles of the peninsular 
campaign, and both had received wounds. 

Companies E, F and H were wholly, and Companies A, G and I in part from Allegany County. The 
men in point of character and patriotism were second to none in the service. Their record of brilliant 
achievements and important captures, untarnished by a single disaster, tells its own simple, eloquent 
story. The briefest summary must suffice. 

September 6th, 1862, the regiment left its rendezvous at Portage for the seat of war amidst the 
cheers, the tears and the “God speeds “ of a throng of friends who had gathered from all parts of the 
senatorial district to witness its departure. Its route was over the Northern Central Railway, through 
Pennsylvania. At Harrisburg it was halted, and detained two days under arms, in anticipation of an 
attack on that city by the rebel cavalry, then raiding on Hagerstown and Chambersburg. This force 
retreating, the regiment proceeded on its way. Halting a single night at Washington, D. C., it was 
pushed at once to the Union front, south of the James River, at Suffolk, Va., which it reached 
September 13th. From this time until January 29th, 1863, the men were occupied with the usual 
duties of the soldier in an advanced garrisoned position in the South-picket duty, throwing up 
entrenchments, building corduroy roads, burying the victims of swamp malaria, turning out at midnight 
for long roll alarm, usually without cause, but occasionally relieved by a reconnaissance to the Black 
water, without other result than blistered feet and swollen limbs. 

But on the night of January 29th, 1863, the monotony was relieved by a genuine sensation, and the 
regiment received its “baptism of fire.” At midnight a large force was turned out for one of these 
expeditions. It consisted of 3,500 infantry, made up of Corcoran’s brigade and the 130th, with two 
other regiments--12 pieces of artillery--and Spear’s cavalry in advance. About 4 o’clock on the 
morning of the 30th, at Deserted Farm, midway between Suffolk and the Blackwater, this force 
encountered a rebel advance on Suffolk under General Roger A. Pryor, consisting of about 2,500 
infantry, 14 pieces of artillery, and the proper ratio of cavalry. Without halting the column, the cavalry, 
by a single dash, drove the enemy’s pickets back upon the main body, which was stationed on the far 
side of an open field from one-quarter to one-half a mile in width. Into this open field on the near side 
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our artillery at once debouched, and opened fire, with the 130th and the other two regiments of 
infantry supporting and immediately behind it-Corcoran’s brigade being still further in the rear. For two 
hours, with the forces thus disposed, the action was made an artillery duel. 

The cannonade was incessant and terrific. Shot and shell went plowing through the ranks of the 
infantry, in rear of the artillery, with terrible effect. All who have had experience know that this is the 
most trying position for infantry-it is the most senseless as well. They are powerless to render any 
assistance, except to retake what may be lost. Colonel Gibbs, a veteran of the Mexican war, ventured 
to expostulate with Corcoran at the outset against this disposition and to suggest that the infantry 
should be posted on the flanks of the artillery, where they would escape the raking fire, and where 
they could repel an assault upon it, if made. For his temerity in so doing, he was put under arrest by 
Corcoran and his sword taken from him. But the wisdom of his suggestion was soon demonstrated. 
Corcoran’s own brigade, unused to fire, broke in confusion and disorder, and began a precipitate 
retreat. He was himself obliged to leave the field and join in the effort to rally them. In this he only 
partially succeeded. 

Meanwhile the fight in front went on without orders or direction. The confusion and disorder in the rear 
were unknown there. Though suffering terrible punishment, the three infantry regiments remained at 
their post, firm as a wall. But what were they to do ? On every hand, from artillery and infantry 
officers, was heard the inquiry - “Where’s General Corcoran ?” No one knew. Despairing of a reply, 
and not knowing what else to do, the artillery began to withdraw from the field. Hastily the bodies of 
the dead were piled on to gun carriage, caisson, and ammunition wagon, as they began to file down 
the road to the rear. This brought the infantry officers together. The day was just breaking. Everybody 
looked the puzzled astonishment that they felt.   “What does this mean ? What’s all this for?” ran from 
mouth to mouth. No one knew. Were there orders to retreat ? No one knew of any orders of any kind-
and yet the last of the artillery was filing by. “This is a shame ! “ began some one. “This is a shame” 
echoed all. “Let’s go on without orders ! let’s charge them!” The key note had been struck. “Let’s 
charge them! Let’s charge them!” went up as from one throat along the whole line. Everybody knew 
now just what to do. Quicker than it can be told here, three regiments in line of battle moved out from 
the edge of the wood and charged across the open field. Who that was there can ever forget it? Who 
that witnessed it will not always remember the thrilling picture of brave Colonel Gibbs, under arrest as 
he was, sword less and homeless, seizing the colors and bearing them, like the hero that he was, in 
front of the regiment throughout the whole of that charge? From that hour his kingdom in the regiment 
was established. There had been doubts, almost murmurings, but now and henceforth every man in 
the regiment was willing to die for him. 

The enemy broke and ran in confusion, leaving many of their dead on the field. The 130th was at 
once deployed as skirmishers and pushed into the woods beyond, where they soon developed two 
pieces of artillery and a force of the enemy covering the retreat. They were forcing them steadily back 
amidst a shower of grape and canister, and were shooting the gunners at their guns, when General 
Corcoran arrived on the field and recalled them. After two hours’ delay, in which were gathered up the 
remaining fragments of Corcoran’s brigade, the pursuit was resumed, but without success, only a 
small rear guard being overtaken. 

This engagement established on a firm footing that mutual confidence between officers and men so 
essential to success. Thereafter each felt that they could depend in any emergency upon the other. In 
this engagement the regiment lost Captain Taylor, Company C, killed, and about 30 men killed and 
wounded. Once afterward during the winter the regiment made a reconnaissance to the Blackwater, 
and engaged in a brisk skirmish across the river, in which it lost two men killed and several wounded. 

April 3d, 1863, Longstreet in force invested the place. The 13oth was stationed on the South Quay 
Road, upon which he approached and upon which his main force operated. April 17th a sortie was 
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made by the 13oth and two other regiments, for the purpose of developing the enemy’s strength. The 
affair was brilliant and successful beyond expectation. The enemy were driven from their rifle pits and 
first line of earthworks and compelled to disclose the main body of their forces. The greatest difficulty 
was experienced by the officers in getting the men to retreat. They were bound to have “another 
shot,” and officers were actually compelled to draw their pistols to force some of them to retreat to 
save them from capture. In this sortie Major Scott was struck in his sword arm by a ball which sent his 
sabre flying some feet distant. Picking it up with his other hand he went on as though nothing had 
happened. The loss was only 8 or to killed and wounded. May 1st the siege was abandoned and the 
regiment joined in the pursuit, but without marked incident. Once again, the regiment visited the 
Blackwater, and on its return, June 18th, was ordered to the Peninsula. June 19th it accordingly 
embarked, and by way of Norfolk reached Yorktown and at once joined Key’s command in the 
second Peninsula advance upon Richmond. Nothing occurred especially creditable to anybody on 
that advance. No one was allowed to do any-thing. The regiment sustained its part in all the minor 
and insignificant engagements, and on being ordered to join the Army of the Potomac returned to 
Yorktown July 7th, and preceded thence by transport to Washington, and thence by rail to Frederick 
city, Maryland, which it reached July r3th, after the battle of Gettysburg. 

July 19th, by a forced night march, the Army of the Potomac was joined at Berlin, and the Pleasant 
Valley traversed to Warrenton, Va. At this point the regiment was transferred to cavalry, given the title 
of 1st New York Dragoons, and ordered into drilling camp at Manassas Junction, Va. Drill was 
prosecuted incessantly until, late in September, the regiment was mounted, and after a few days’ 
mounted drill resumed active duty. 

This was at the time Meade was falling back from the Rapidan, hotly pursued by Lee. The first duty of 
the regiment was a reconnaissance by three companies through Thoroughfare Gap into Pleasant 
valley, October 12th, to as-certain the truth of the report that a large force of the enemy was 
advancing through it to repeat the tactics of falling on the Union rear. The reconnaissance pushed 
through as far as Salem, demonstrating that no force was there; at which point it was recalled and 
ordered to join the main army near Catlett’s Station, the officer in command to report to General 
Meade. He was found leaning against a stump near Catlett’s Station, weary, worn, and haggard. 
When told by the officer, in answer to his anxious inquiries, where he had been and that he found no 
enemy there, he heaved a sigh of relief, and said: “You don’t know how much I am obliged to you; it’s 
a great relief to me.” 

During the remainder of the retreat to Centreville the regiment was guarding the approaches on the 
left flank of the army, and between it and the enemy. After reaching Centreville it re-crossed Bull Run, 
on the evening of October 16th, and engaged in a skirmish on its recent camp ground. On the 
evening of the 17th of October, it again crossed, and on the plains of Manassas, single handed, 
charged a rebel brigade of cavalry and drove them near to Bristoe Station, with considerable loss in 
killed and wounded. It was near sundown when the charge began, and night only put a stop to the 
pursuit. The following day the pursuit was resumed. when the destruction of the Orange and 
Alexandria railroad was discovered, up to the point to which the enemy had been driven the night 
before. 

The pursuit continued without further engagement to the Rappahannock. After picketing that line for 
some time stationed at Morrisville and Bealton, the regiment, November 8th, moved with the cavalry 
column rapidly to White Sulphur Springs, crossed the Rappahannock, and pushing rapidly forward 
attacked the enemy in flank as they were retreating through Culpepper on the 9th. In this engagement 
the regiment suffered no loss, though inflicting severe punishment upon the enemy. The following day 
Culpepper was occupied, some captures made and the enemy followed across the Rapidan. Shortly 
after the regiment went into camp beyond and near Culpepper, from which point it made several 
important reconnaissance’s, engaging the enemy, in one of which it captured a signal station on the 
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top of Slaughter Mountain, and in another of which it pushed up to within sixty rods of the rebel works 
at Rapidan Station, and engaged the forces in then, developing their fell strength. 

November 23d the regiment, with others, moved rapidly down the river, crossed at Ely’s ford, 
occupied the heights beyond and raided the country to and beyond Chancellorsville, covering the 
operations of Meade at Mine Run. This position was held until after the withdrawal of Meade. Re-
turning to Culpepper, the regiment soon after went into winter quarters near Mitchell’s Station, and 
the following winter was occupied in picketing the Rapidan, with occasional raids. In one of these, 
with 140 men of the regiment, to Sperryville, on the night of January 10th, 1864, two officers and six 
men of a Virginia regiment were captured, and a barbarous practice of shooting pickets was broken 
up. 

May 4th, 1864, the regiment started out on the campaign of the war. Pursuing its route of the fall 
before by Ely’s ford to Chancellorsville, it passed thence to the left of Grant’s army, engaged in the 
Wilderness fight, and on the afternoon of May 7th attacked the enemy’s line on a small run beyond 
Todd’s Tavern, maintaining the contest until far into the night against greatly superior numbers. Twice 
was the line broken by the desperate efforts of the enemy. Twice was the front changed and the 
enemy compelled to relinquish their temporary advantage. Night found them pushed, with great loss, 
far back into the woods towards Spotsylvania. All night long was spent in burying the dead. In the 
morning, while yet the fire from belching carbines lit up the darkness, the contest was resumed. 
Steadily the enemy was forced back until the breastworks, lined with their infantry, were reached. 
Here the 5th corps relieved the cavalry, which at once prepared for new work; 104 empty saddles 
was the result of this engagement. 

One day at Aldrich’s Tavern to replenish supplies, and the regiment, with Sheridan’s cavalry, pushed 
for Lee’s line of communications. The evening of May 9th, at the close of a hot, sultry, dusty day, 
found them at Beaver Dam Station, burning Lee’s stock of supplies, capturing several trains of cars, 
putting cannon balls through the locomotives, and destroying the track. The next day the column 
pushed for Richmond. The 1st Dragoons had the rest. Stuart with his rebel cavalry was hovering on 
our left flank and rear. Twice during the day, he charged down on the rear, and twice he was repulsed 
with loss. The night’s encampment was beyond Squirrel Bridge. 

The next morning, with the first gray streaks of dawn, came an attack at the point where the 1st 
Dragoons was encamped. Leaving horses to be saddled by every fourth man, the balance seized 
their arms, and at them. Nothing stood the impetuosity of their charge, but the enemy yielded ground 
stubbornly. Here Major Scott was again wounded, in the thigh. After driving the enemy far enough to 
give the necessary time, the regiment hastily retreated to its horses, mounted, and filed out after the 
main column, already on the march, just as the enemy again got in range, and opened on them, but 
without effect. The casualties in these affairs were always slight. 

The afternoon found Stuart’s cavalry finally ahead of us, or so nearly so that they commanded the 
junction of the old Brock Road with the road on which we were advancing, at a point near Hungary or 
Yellow Tavern. They must be dislodged. The line forms with the 1st Dragoons sup-ported on either 
side by regular regiments. Stuart’s artillery takes a commanding position. The plan is to swing to the 
left and envelope it. The charge begins. Steadily the left of the 1st Dragoons pushes through a wood 
up toward the left of the battery. Now it makes a fence at the farther side of the wood, where it 
reaches the gunners at their guns. Stuart, on a white horse, rides among them and cheers 

them on. The bullets are too thick. He starts to retire. Just as he reaches the skirt of the timber 
nearby, down he goes! The artillery are limbering up. Now is the time for the left to hold possession of 
the road and cut them off. They must be there. Run to the left and see! No regulars! Someone says 
they stopped a quarter of a mile back, just after entering the wood. Shame! But it can’t be helped. We 
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must at them ourselves, boys! And so, over the fence, with the enemy in full chase before us. But it’s 
no use - the artillery escapes. Back over its ground and over the dying body of Stuart do we push the 
horde of the enemy-beyond the road-down the descent toward the distant wood-and there in the edge 
of that wood, before our very eyes and almost within our grasp, are their thousands of led horses. 
Nothing but the routed rabble between us and them. As we cross the road a company is deployed at 
right angles across it to warn of approach and to push back any advance down it. What’s this we 
hear? A shout behind that sounds above the din. Looking round, the captain guarding the road with 
swinging hat waves to return. Halt! A run back to where he is, and there over the very ground we 
have traveled, and coming from where the regulars should have been, is a rebel line coming steadily 
forward with ammunition boxes full. Ours are nearly all empty. Even now we are using our pistols. 
There’s only one thing for it. Drawing them and stubbornly facing the foe to the rear, we work our way 
out by a flank movement, and surrender what was so nearly and surely ours but for the regulars. We 
take position on the flank. Stuart’s artillery comes back. Custer masses his cavalry. A wild hurrah! A 
rush as of a whirl-wind, and back he comes with two pieces, while the air rings with cheers, shouts, 
and music. The enemy withdraws, and the road to Richmond is open to us. Twenty of our boys will 
never take it. They have taken the one to eternity. 

It was near night when the action ended. A slow, drizzling rain set in. The night was inky black, and 
still the troops moved on toward Richmond, groping their way in the darkness over the slippery road. 
Stray, rattling shots were heard now and then as pickets or outposts were encountered, and before 
any one seemed to know it, Russell’s bridge across the Chickahominy had been crossed and the 
command was inside of the first line of the defenses of Richmond. The command turns to the left and 
moves down the river between the lines. As the day dawns torpedoes begin to explode under the 
tread of the troops, and soon the advance is engaged with the second line of defenses. An effort to 
re-cross the river at Meadow Bridge discloses Stuart’s cavalry on the opposite side disputing the 
passage. The situation is critical-the enemy in large force in front, the enemy, and the river in the rear. 
While the attack in front is kept up, a division is massed to force the passage at Meadow Bridge. A 
hot dismounted fight for the control of the bridge ends with Sheridan’s troops in possession and 
occupying the opposite bank. The bridge is repaired. The 1st New York Dragoons crosses in the 
advance and charges the enemy, who fly in every direction. 

This opens the road to Mechanicsville, whither the 1st Dragoons leads and the whole command 
follows. It is now noon, and pickets are put out in all directions during the bivouac for dinner. This 
done and the advance resumed the march to the left in the direction of Cold Harbor. The brigade to 
which the 1st Dragoons is attached takes the lead. The regiment itself, delayed in drawing in its 
pickets, is pushing rapidly by the moving column to overtake the advance. The rattle of musketry 
opens in front. An orderly comes galloping down with orders for the 1st Dragoons to hurry up. At a 
gallop they go to the front. As they get abreast of the battery, standing in column on the road in front 
of a farm house, the balance of the brigade comes piling back upon the battery in wild confusion, 
closely followed by the exultant foe. Already the bullets are flying thick about the artillery. The battery 
seems doomed. Valor alone will save it. As the head of the 1st Dragoons gets abreast of the battery 
Colonel Thorp, who is in command, shouts the order, “Forward into line! Prepare to fight on foot!” At a 
gallop they go forward into line, each man numbered for fighting on foot leaping from his saddle as he 
reaches the line, and forward at a run. firing as he runs. In ten minutes, the enemy is in full flight and 
fifty prisoners are taken-nearly all of them found behind the entrenchments thrown up by the enemy in 
the Peninsula campaign of 1862. 

Not a man was lost. A few horses were killed, among them Major Scott’s, which was shot under him 
just as he entered the wood. The enemy was pushed back far enough to uncover the main body of 
Stuart’s cavalry moving to the right. Later on, the advance was turned in the same direction, and night 
found the encampment at Gaines Mills. No more was seen of Stuart’s cavalry on this raid. The 
following day Sheridan’s command moved to near Bottom’s Bridge, and thence in the two following 
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days it crossed by way of White Oak Swamp, and, over the familiar and historical grounds of two 
years before, reached Malvern Hill, whence it received supplies from Haxall’s Landing. From Malvern 
Hill on May 16th the force witnessed Butler’s battle south of the James, in his effort to break from 
Bermuda Hundred. 

Two days for supplies, and rest for jaded horses and worse jaded men, and we are off again to rejoin 
the Army of the Potomac_ Without incident worthy of note on the route, we meet it on the 24th at 
Polecat on its race with Lee to reach Richmond. Wheeling about we take the advance again, and at 
daylight on the morning of the 26th, dash across the Pamunkey at Hanover Town, and during that 
and the next day drive the enemy some distance beyond Hawes’s Shop. On the 28th a large rebel 
force attempts to dislodge this advance, and attacks with such impetuosity that the fight really opens 
from General Gregg’s headquarters. Then ensues for hours one of the most hotly con-tested fights of 
the war. Flanking forces are sent to the right, in the advance of which is the 1st Dragoons. They are 
met with a shower of grape and canister from a battery across a deep and seemingly impassable gulf. 
Instantly they turn it to their advantage by dismounting, sending horses to rear, and plunging into it, 
out of harm’s way. It is better than a breastwork. The guns cannot be depressed to reach them, and 
charging up the opposite bank, the enemy all too quick takes to flight. Turning to the left and falling 
upon the remaining force, the enemy precipitately abandon the field and their dead. During the night 
the infantry occupy the position taken by the cavalry, and the following day the cavalry moved to the 
left. 

On the 3oth they again encounter the enemy at Old Church, and in a charge by Caster’s brigade and 
the 1st Dragoons drive them back with considerable loss on Cold Harbor, before which our forces 
encamp for the night. 

The next day the contest is resumed for the possession of that point. During the night the enemy 
throws up a formidable line of earthworks, and behind these await the at-tack. The forenoon is spent 
in heavy skirmishing and maneuvering for advantageous positions. The enemy mean-while receive 
large reinforcements, as is evident by the clouds of dust rising behind their earthworks. 3n the after-
noon the hour of assault comes. It is made directly in front, openly, boldly and with full notice. The 
route of the 1st Dragoons is over an open field, billowed with swells and troughs. From cover to cover 
of these troughs they charge through showers of bullets, halting at each for a fresh start. In this way 
they reach the last trough, within five rods of the works. Here they pause and make extra 
preparations for the final assault. Every carbine is charged to the full -every muscle is ready for the 
word. With a shout they rise the crest and rush for the works. Instantly the works are wreathed in 
smoke and the air is literally blue with flying lead. Within twenty feet of the rebel line they press, with 
ranks thinning at every step. Here Major Scott is struck. One-third of the line officers are wounded, it 
is more than poor human nature can bear. Involuntarily the men crowd to one or the other side to 
avoid the hail, that seems to them thickest where they are. It’s no use-it is everywhere. No appeals 
can hold them. This force can never take this line. They see it, and doggedly they fall back to their 
cover, and open a straggling fire from there. The general witnesses the scene. He sees the needs of 
the hour. The next that is heard is on the Ieft the eternal bugle advance of Custer. He gallops to Major 
Scott, who is on the left, and who points out what seems to him the weak spot in their line, still further 
to the left. Quicker than thought, “Wait five minutes, major, and you will hear from me,” and he darts 
across the road through a  

volley of balls. True to his word, in five minutes the charge sounds on our left, his line sweeps up with 
ours, and together they once more rise the crest and charge for-ward! Again, that wreath in our front-
again that leaden air; but this time it is of short duration. Custer has struck the weak point in their line 
and doubling it back sends his bullets raking down the enemy’s line. The Ere in our front slackens, 
and with a bound the men leap on to the works as the enemy run from them in the wildest confusion, 
and the day is ours. Then we know that we have routed from their breastworks Hake’s division of 
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infantry, and on counting up we find that we have captured 300 of the men who captured the 85th N 
Y. at Plymouth. We mourned the heavy loss of brave comrades, about sixty of whom had fallen, but 
there was joy nevertheless. 

The next forenoon against desperate and repeated assaults, the 1st Dragoons held the ground, nor 
surrendered a foot Relieved about noon by the 6th corps the regiment moved to near Bottom’s 
Bridge, and remained two days. Then to Old Church and then to Trevillian Station, where on the 11th 
and 12th of June it was again hotly engaged, and where Colonel Thorp in the thick of the fight was 
wounded and taken prisoner. Returning, it crossed the James with the main army, and enjoyed some 
rest until July 26th. On the after-noon and evening of that day, with other cavalry, the regiment 
crossed the Appomattox at Point of Rocks, and marching all night crossed the James in the early 
morning at Jones Neck; and passing round to the right of the infantry on the afternoon of the 27th, it 
charged a force of the enemy at Darby town, obtaining possession of the New Market Road, and 
driving the enemy back for miles. The following day Wilcox’s rebel division attempts to dislodge the 
Union force and recover the position. Hawes’s Shop is repeated. The enemy gain a temporary 
advantage only to be repulsed in the end with terrible slaughter. A squadron of the Let Dragoons 
makes the charge on the first day, General Wade Hampton and staff barely escaping capture by 
them; and on the second day the regiment maintains the only unbroken portion of the line, repulsing 
repeated assaults. On the evening of the 28th the regiment re-crosses the James, and the following 
evening returns to its position with the army at Petersburg, passing down the line on the morning of 
the Both, just as the colored troops are returning from the charge after the mine explosion. 

August 1st the regiment is ordered to the Shenandoah valley. Embarking on transports at City Point, 
two days later the men land at Giesboro Point, and thence marching, August 7th finds them at Hall 
Town, above Harper’s Ferry, in the valley. August 8th a reconnaissance is made to Shepardstown, 
returning during the night. August 9th the 1st Dragoons moves with other cavalry up the valley to aid 
in operations against Early. Turning to the left at Berryville on the Toth it takes part in an encounter 
with the enemy at White Post, charging a rebel force from behind a stone wall in most brilliant style, 
making important captures with but slight loss on our side. On the 11th it is sent out to reach 
Newtown or demonstrate the presence of Early’s forces at that point. Within half a mile from 
Newtown, and five miles away from the main body, it encounters both his infantry and cavalry, and for 
an hour and a half, unaided, maintains the fiercest and most desperate contest, never yielding an 
inch of ground, but, gallantly maintaining its position until the arrival of the main force, too late for 
operations on that day. In this engagement Major Scott was again severely wounded, and the 
regiment lost heavily. During the night the enemy withdrew, and the hospital records found in their 
abandoned camp contained a list of wounded in the previous day’s action from thirty-three different 
regiments. The two following days the regiment joined in the pursuit to Strasburg and returned down 
the valley, when the pursuit ended. Again, at Smithfield and Kearns town, on the 25th, 26th and 28th 
of August, the regiment is hotly engaged and loses heavily-brave Lieutenant Alford being killed and 
many officers wounded. On the last named day, it is forced, with Custer, to cross the river at 
Shepardstown, and passing down recross at Harper’s Ferry. 

September r9th it takes a conspicuous part in the battle of Opequan, charging the enemy’s infantry 
after routing their cavalry, capturing twice its number of prisoners and three battle flags. Here the 
gallant Captain Thorpe is killed in the charge upon the enemy’s cavalry. The loss in the regiment, 
however, is not severe. The three following days are a continuous skirmish and picket in the pursuit. 
On the 22nd Early is dislodged just at nightfall, or late in the day, from Fisher’s Hill ; and the following 
night, in pitch darkness, the 1st Dragoons has the advance in following his retreat. Two pieces of 
artillery are covering it, and the night is a succession of belching guns placed in position, followed by 
slow, cautious approach to dislodge them. Passing through Woodstock late in the night, morning finds 
the tst Dragoons at Edinburg. All day the pursuit continues, and as the sun is sinking the advance 
encounters the enemy turned at bay at Mount Jackson. 
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Morning finds the enemy posted on the high bluffs, across the river and fiats beyond the town, with 
their cavalry occupying the open fields and hillside across the river to the left. Against this cavalry the 
1st Dragoons is sent. Crossing the river by ford and gaining the open country beyond, they charge at 
once. The cavalry stand but for a moment, and then break and retire by various roads through broken 
timber. The flank of the enemy’s main force is exposed, and the assailants pushing for that, they 
abandon their position and continue the retreat, with our cavalry hovering close on their rear and 
compelling them to make frequent stands to save their trains. Beyond New Market old Roache Mane-
the favorite campaign horse of Colonel Thorp and Major Scott, and the favorite of the regiment as 
well, is shot under Major Scott. 

The following night the enemy makes good his escape. The next day pursuit continues to 
Harrionsburg and thence to the left toward Port Republic, and the next; September 26th’ the 1st 
Dragoons, again in advance, attacks the enemy between Port Republic and Brown’s Gap. Again, a 
sharp engagement takes place. Major Scott is again severely wounded, and after considerable loss 
the enemy is found in a position from which he cannot be dislodged and our forces retire across the 
river. Then follows the laying waste of the valley on the return. October 9th, at Tom’s Brook, the 1st 
Dragoons takes part in turning upon Early’s cavalry and capturing their trains and artillery. 

Settling down near Middletown quiet again comes, with only picket and scout duty and minor 
incidents until October 19th. In the battle of Cedar Creek, the 1st Dragoons more than sustained its 
reputation. During all the demoralized portion of that day it maintained its organization in-tact, and 
contributed largely to stay the tide and restore the order of battle. When the final charge came it 
loaded itself with honors and with captures. This practically closed a six months period of constant, 
unremitting, active service, and hardship such as fell to the lot of few regiments in the army. 

In November the regiment participated in an expedition to Loudon Valley, which was by common 
consent styled the “Bull raid,” from the nature of the captures made. 

In December it constituted a portion of the force which advanced from Winchester on Gordonsville, 
and just at night on the 22nd of December, at Liberty Mills, the 1st Dragoons made a gallant charge 
and captured two pieces of artillery and about 30 prisoners. The regiment suffered greatly from the 
intense cold on this raid, many of them having their feet frozen. 

After a brief stay at Lovettsville, Va., on the 24th of February, 1865, the brigade was again ordered to 
take the field. Sheridan left Winchester with 10,000 cavalry, including the 1st New York Dragoons, 
and arrived at Staunton in four days, defeated and captured the remnants of Early’s forces at 
Waynesboro, crossed the Blue Ridge at Rock Fish Gap, turned and destroyed the Virginia Central 
Railroad from Frederick’s Hall to Beaver Dam, won a victory at Five Forks April 1st, and pursued his 
movements until April 9th, when Lee and his entire army surrendered, and the war was brought to a 
close. 

During the services of the gallant regiment whose history has here been given, it captured 1,533 
prisoners, 19 pieces of artillery, 21 caissons, 240 artillery horses, 40 army wagons and ambulances, 
160 animals of draught and 4 battle flags. It lost in killed 4 officers and 155 enlisted men, and in 
wounded 24 officers and 204 enlisted men. One officer and 80 enlisted men died of disease. 
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Swirling Cavalry  
Fight at Trevilian Station 

A two-day cavalry fight: Phil Sheridan’s Union forces against Wade Hampton’s Confederates. 

By Arnold Blumberg 

Despite costing the Union Army 55,000 men in five weeks of hard marching and grueling combat, Lt. 
Gen. Ulysses S. Grant’s Overland Campaign of 1864 still had not accomplished its goal of defeating 
Robert E. Lee’s Army of Northern Virginia. By early June, Lee’s legions, although reduced by another 
33,000 casualties, remained close to Richmond’s fortifications and the nearby swamplands of the 
Chickahominy River. There was no favorable ground upon which Grant could maneuver his larger 
army to advantageously fight. Reluctantly, he realized that he needed to review his options if he was 
to destroy his determined opponents. 

Grant’s new plan called for sending cavalry west toward Charlottesville to cut the Virginia Central 
Railroad, then shifting the Army of the Potomac south and west, severing the rest of Lee’s supply 
lines and isolating the Confederate forces at Richmond. For the scheme to succeed, Grant had to 
steal another march on Lee. Once this was done, the ensuing military action would become a siege, 
which both Grant and Lee understood would eventually spell the Confederacy’s doom. 

Grant initiated his new strategy by preparing to march the Army of the Potomac to the south bank of 
the James River. This maneuver would place him within striking distance of the city of Petersburg, 23 
miles south of Richmond, which served as the rail center and supply transit point for much of the 
material for Lee’s army from the Deep South. On June 5, Grant wired Maj. Gen. Henry W. Halleck in 
Washington. Once he passed south of the James River, Grant said, “I can cut off all sources of 
supply to the enemy except what is furnished by the [James River] canal.” If Maj. Gen. David Hunter, 
Union commander of the Department of West Virginia, could capture Lynchburg, the use of the vital 
James River Canal would be lost to the Confederacy. If Hunter did not succeed, Grant observed, “I 
will make the effort of destroying the canal by sending cavalry up the south side of the [James] river.” 

Grant’s plan demanded strict secrecy. He had to slip away so stealthily that Lee would not realize the 
absence of the Federals until they were storming the gates of Petersburg. In the meantime, some sort 
of adjunct operation had to be embarked upon to sever Lee’s vital supply line to Virginia’s 
Shenandoah Valley, which provided the Army of Northern Virginia with a majority of its foodstuffs, 
finished goods, and other necessities. 

Sheridan’s Raid 

On June 6, Grant ordered Hunter to move to Charlottesville and destroy as much of the Virginia 
Central Railroad as possible as he moved eastward. Hunter was then directed to link up with a 
mounted force under Maj. Gen. Phil Sheridan at Charlottesville. After he and Sheridan had completed 
their work destroying rail lines and canals, Hunter was to proceed east and join the Army of the 
Potomac. 
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The spirit and dash of the Confederate cavalryman is well captured in Don Stivers’ painting, The 
Commander. The swirling fight at Trevilian Station would test those qualities to the max. 
Sheridan had gained much of his battlefield experience as an infantry division leader at Perryville, 
Murfreesboro, Chickamauga, and Chattanooga, but he retained a firm grasp of cavalry tactics and 
organization from his brief service as a cavalry colonel in Mississippi earlier in the war. These traits 
had attracted Grant’s attention, and Sheridan seemed the perfect candidate to whip the Army of the 
Potomac’s cavalry branch into a more aggressive fighting force than it heretofore had been. As a 
result, when Grant came east to take command of all the United States armies, he brought Sheridan 
with him. Sheridan quickly justified Grant’s faith in him by retooling the eastern cavalry through 
intensive training, reequipping, and assigning competent new commanders to ensure maximum 
fighting capacity. 

With full confidence in Sheridan’s ability to operate independently and achieve the desired results the 
mission called for, Grant directed him to commence his raid on June 7. Sheridan took two of his three 
cavalry divisions on the raid. One was the 1st Division under Brig. Gen. Alfred T.A. Torbert, which 
contained three brigades under Brig. Gen. George A. Custer, Colonel Thomas C. Devin, and Brig. 
Gen. Wesley Merritt. 
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The 2nd Cavalry Division was also slated to take part in the operation. It was headed by Brig. Gen. 
David M. Gregg, like Torbert a West Point graduate. Modest, firm, and fearless in combat, Gregg was 
hailed as the finest type of cavalry leader. The 2nd Division included two brigades: the 1st under Brig. 
Gen. Henry E. Davies, and the 2nd led by Colonel John I. Gregg. Neither officer was a professional 
soldier, but each had proved his mettle under fire. 

The 3rd Cavalry Division, led by Brig. Gen. James H. Wilson, remained with the Army of the Potomac 
to act as its eyes and ears. Along with the 1st and 2nd Divisions, four batteries of horse artillery under 
Captain James M. Robertson accompanied Sheridan’s expedition. A total of 9,300 men and 20 
cannons made up his strike force. A wagon train comprising 125 ambulances and wagons hauling 
bridge-building equipment completed the expedition. 

The Attrition of Sheridan’s Cavalry 

The units spent the better part of a day moving from their camps along the Chickahominy River 12 
miles east of Richmond to the Pamunkey, a tributary of the York River located east of the 
Chickahominy. Before they departed for the new rendezvous point, the Federal troopers were issued 
three days’ rations, two days’ grain for their horses, and 100 rounds of ammunition. 

It was apparent to the troopers from the detailed preparations that a big event was about to occur. 
Veteran bugler Carlos McDonald of the 6th Ohio Cavalry observed that the preparations meant “we 
are to have some long marches away from our base of supplies, and in all probability some fighting.” 
Such speculation aside, few officers or enlisted men foresaw a major cavalry raid in the offing. As one 
member of the 9th New York Volunteer Cavalry Regiment observed, “Much reticence was observed 
by the officers since Grant had taken command, and only division commanders were informed of 
contemplated movements before their execution. To the men and subordinate officers this move was 
an enigma.”  

On Tuesday, June 7, the sun rose at 4:45 am on what would be a rather humid day, even though the 
temperature would not exceed 74 degrees. Fifteen minutes after daylight, the Union cavalry camps 
echoed with the bugle call “Boots and Saddles,” followed by “To Horse.” Within the hour an eight-
mile-long column of Federal horsemen—Gregg’s division followed by Torbert’s—traveling at a pace of 
four miles an hour, filled the road heading northwest along the south bank of the Mattapony River. 
After a march of only 15 miles, the column halted and bivouacked for the night. 

A major cause for concern on the first day was the alarming number of horses that broke down only 
hours after the raid began. The slow pace of the Union riders was calculated to prevent excessive 
horse wastage on the march. Such losses would greatly impair the force’s mobility and striking power 
when it came time to confront the enemy. Unfortunately for Sheridan and his troopers, the expedition 
would continue to lose horseflesh at an ever more quickening rate as their advance continued. The 
animals that could not keep up with the march were shot and left by the roadside, their riders 
tramping through the countryside looking for new mounts to avoid joining the growing number of 
dismounted. AZSWORDS.C
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Union cavalry horses are tethered around the Old Church Hotel near Cold Harbor, Virginia, which 
functioned as Maj. Gen. Phil Sheridan’s headquarters during the run-up to Trevilian Station. 
The next day the pace of the Federal expedition picked up with a respectable 25-mile march reaching 
Pole Cat Station on the Richmond, Fredericksburg and Potomac Railroad in the late afternoon. While 
most of the brigades went into camp or foraged the area, Merritt’s reserve brigade was tasked with 
tearing up the nearby rail line. 

Wade Hampton of the Confederate  
Cavalry Corps 

As the Union marauders splashed across the Pamunkey on June 7, they were shadowed by 
Confederate scouts who hovered around the blue column, watching and exchanging sporadic gunfire 
as the Federals marched on. Reports of the Union move reached Maj. Gen. Wade Hampton, 
commanding the Confederate 1st Cavalry Division, early on the morning of June 8 at his Atlee’s 
Station headquarters near Cold Harbor. Hampton immediately sent a report of Sheridan’s activities to 
Lee, who ordered him to counter any threat Sheridan’s riders posed. Hampton would prove to be 
more than up to the challenge. 

Reputed to be the richest man in the South on the eve of the Civil War, Hampton was an avid 
outdoorsman and an expert horseman. The handsome, brown-haired, gray-eyed South Carolina 
aristocrat did not smoke and only sparingly drank alcohol. At the start of the war, he raised troops for 
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the Confederacy and saw action as an infantry colonel at the First Battle of Manassas, where he 
received the first of several wounds he would suffer during the war. The next year he transferred to 
the cavalry and became a brigadier general under the fabled Maj. Gen. James Ewell Brown Stuart, 
commander of Lee’s cavalry arm. Hampton subsequently fought in all the major battles of the Army of 
Northern Virginia before being badly wounded at Gettysburg. 

Phil Sheridan. 
After returning to active duty in early 1864, Hampton 
assumed command of one of the three cavalry divisions 
that comprised the newly reconstituted Cavalry Corps. 
After Stuart was mortally at Yellow Tavern in May 1864, 
Lee was unable to choose his successor. Both Hampton 
and Fitzhugh Lee, the general’s nephew, reported 
directly to the army commander for instructions. This 
unsatisfactory chain of command situation was still in 
place when Sheridan’s new sortie got underway. 

By the opening of the 1864 campaign, Union horse 
soldiers were more numerous, better mounted, and 
better armed than their Confederate counterparts. 
Hampton realized that to charge such a superior force on 
horseback was seldom feasible. His alternative was to 
fight dismounted. One subordinate described Hampton’s 
fighting method: “He could dash his forces, mounted, to 
favorable points with great celerity, dismount and rush in, 
and if advisable, draw them out as quickly and hurl them 
fiercely on some other weaker position.” Hampton always 
brought the maximum force possible to the point of attack 

or defense, turning his men into good, hard-fighting infantry and at the same time preserving their 
good qualities as cavalry. Although his soldiers’ rate of fire using muzzle-loading weapons was 
slower, it was more accurate and longer-ranged, and therefore caused more damage to the enemy. 
The impact of his careful style of generalship gave the men serving under him unwavering 
confidence, and the disorganized stampedes so common under Stuart were unknown under 
Hampton. 

Hampton’s 1st Brigade was led by Colonel Gilbert J. Wright. An attorney by profession, Wright was a 
wounded combat veteran of the Mexican War. He possessed great courage and dogged 
determination and proved to be a fine combat leader. Second Brigade was commanded by Brig. Gen. 
Thomas Rosser, a member of the West Point Class of 1861. He had been an officer in the 
Confederate cavalry since 1862 and was esteemed as a good fighter. Brig. Gen. Matthew C. Butler 
handled Hampton’s 3rd Brigade. Butler was known for his courage and calmness in the midst of 
combat, the sort of leader who sat on his horse quietly watching while shots and shells exploded 
around him. Butler had lost his right foot a year earlier at the Battle of Brandy Station, but this did 
nothing to diminish his performance as a cavalry officer. 
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Wade Hampton. 
Fitzhugh Lee was a graduate of the West Point Class of 
1856 and had fought in the Regular Army against the 
Plains Indians prior to the Civil War. The nephew of 
Robert E. Lee, Fitz Lee was a competent leader of 
mounted forces whose service during the war swung 
between brilliant and lackluster. His division included the 
1st Brigade under Brig. Gen. Williams C. Wickham, a 
Virginian lawyer, politician, and planter. Wickham was 
ably assisted by his senior colonel, Thomas Munford, a 
graduate of the Virginia Military Academy. Brig. Gen. 
Lunsford L. Lomax commanded the 2nd Brigade. Lomax 
had attended West Point and served on the frontier 
before the Civil War; he was deemed a steady and 
competent officer. Colonel Bradley T. Johnson’s 1st 
Maryland Cavalry Battalion, along with the Baltimore 
Light Artillery Company, an independent command, were 
attached to Lomax’s unit. For artillery support, Hampton 
had the services of Major Robert P. Chew’s four-battery 
Horse Artillery Battalion. In all, Hampton commanded 
6,400 men and 14 cannons. 

 

In Hot Pursuit of Sheridan 

Anticipating that the enemy’s targets were the rail hubs and supply depots at Gordonsville and 
Charlottesville, Hampton set his division in motion on June 9, intending to get between Sheridan and 
his goals. He directed Fitz Lee to follow as soon as possible. Most of the Southern riders had no idea 
what sort of mission Hampton had embarked on, but Sergeant George M. Neese of Chew’s Horse 
Artillery Battery spoke for many when he wrote in his diary: “General Hampton with a good force of 
cavalry is after the raiders in hot pursuit, and when he strikes a warm trail there is usually some blood 
left in the track and some game bagged.” 

Moving at a steady walk with hardly any stops, Hampton’s force covered 30 miles the first day. 
Meanwhile, Sheridan, unaware he was being pursued, covered 24 miles along the route of the 
Virginia Central Railroad north of the North Anna River, leaving a trail of dead horses in his wake. As 
the blue column moved on, its rearguard and detached foraging parties were constantly harassed by 
Rebel scouts. 

On the 10th the chase continued with Hampton’s horsemen reaching Fredericks Hall Station. Lee’s 
troopers followed a few miles behind. By 3 pm the Southerners went into camp at Louisa Court 
House on the Virginia Central Railroad, just south of the North Anna River. Rosser’s brigade settled in 
several miles west of Louisa astride the railroad and the direct route to Gordonsville. Wright’s and 
Butler’s commands were just east of Trevilian Station, Fitz Lee’s division a half mile from Louisa on 
the Virginia Central. Hampton had accomplished his first objective of interposing himself between the 
enemy and Gordonsville, but it had cost his command a large number of horses. This translated into 
a significant number of men who would not be present for battle in the coming days. In addition, a 
tactical problem remained for Hampton: a four-mile gap between his and Lee’s position, with the 
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Marquis Road running through the gap from Carpenter’s Ford on the North Anna River to Louisa 
Court House. 

As the Confederates closed on Louisa Court House, the Federals crossed to the south bank of the 
North Anna at Carpenter’s Ford, six miles northeast of Louisa. By the end of the hot day, they went 
into camp. Merritt was six miles north of Trevilian Station, Devin five miles northeast, and Custer four 
miles north of Louisa. Gregg’s division was still marching and strung out along the roads from 
Carpenter’s Ford. The Union column had lost another 500 horses. As darkness covered his 
command, Sheridan was unaware that Hampton was in his front and that Lee held Louisa Court 
House.  

Officers and men of the 1st U.S. Cavalry, photographed in February 1864. By the time of the Battle of 
Trevilian Station, they were a well-trained cavalry force. 

The Battle Begins at Fredericksburg Road 

Sheridan intended to capture Trevilian Station the next day, cutting the Virginia Central and the 
Lynchburg branch of the Charlottesville rail line. Hampton planned to launch an assault in the 
morning, using his division to drive the Federals frontally while Lee flanked them. The result would 
leave Sheridan pinned against the North Anna River and exposed to utter destruction. 

As events unfolded, neither scheme would see fruition, primarily because the terrain around Trevilian 
Station was not suited for mounted combat. Not only was the station located between two creeks, but 
the surrounding countryside was filled with farmsteads, rolling hills, ridges, thick undergrowth, and 
woodlands, all of which greatly impeded horse and foot movement. The main thoroughfare in the 
area, the Louisa Court House-Gordonsville Road, was an unimproved avenue winding along the 
Virginia Central Railway and crossing the tracks at 12 different locations between Louisa and 
Gordonsville. 

At 5 am on June 11, Merritt’s reserve brigade, led by the 2nd U.S. Cavalry Regiment, passed Bibbs 
Crossroads then turned south on the Fredericksburg Road, heading toward the Virginia Central. 
Trevilian Station was a mile or so distant. Torbert rode with the Regulars. Confederate pickets were 
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encountered and driven in. Hearing the news, Hampton, who had just come up from his headquarters 
at the Netherland Tavern, hastily deployed Butler’s South Carolina Brigade. Arranged from left to right 
were the 4th, 5th, and 6th South Carolina Cavalry regiments across the Fredericksburg Road just 
below the crossroads. Meanwhile, Merritt sent the 2nd U.S. Regiment ahead to capture Trevilian 
Station. Butler’s command immediately charged the Federals, who in turn countercharged the Rebels 
and held them in check. 

Reacting to the clash on Fredericksburg Road, Hampton ordered Butler to attack again and directed 
Wright to act as reserve and guard the latter’s flanks. Earlier that morning Hampton had sent Fitz Lee 
instructions to move up the Marquis Road east of the Fredericksburg Road and head north to 
Clayton’s Store and the North Anna River. Rosser, five miles west of Trevilian Station, was ordered to 
protect the western flank against the appearance of Hunter’s army and act as the cavalry’s reserve. 

Butler shouted to his men, “Dismount to fight, action left and action right!” A lawyer before the war, 
the 27-year-old Butler led a brigade whose members, about 1,000 strong, carried muzzle-loading 
Enfield rifles and functioned more like mounted infantry than traditional cavalry. Ordered forward, the 
South Carolinians drove the 2nd U.S. back three-quarters of a mile, with the fighting becoming hand 
to hand. Part of the 4th South Carolina Regiment almost gave way during the fight, but Butler 
managed to rally the men and sent them forward once again. 

Union forces destroying Southern rail lines. Commanding General Ulysses S. Grant hoped Sheridan’s 
raid would be able to do the same thing, cutting off Robert E. Lee’s food supplies at Petersburg. The 
Confederates had other things in mind for Sheridan. 

Retreat to Trevilian Station 

As Butler contended with the 2nd U.S., Merritt formed the rest of his brigade in thick brush close to 
the enemy. The 1st New York Dragoons were placed on the right, followed by the 6th Pennsylvania 
and 2nd U.S. in the center, and the 1st U.S. Cavalry on the left. Merritt’s 5th U.S. Cavalry and 
Lieutenant Edward Williston’s artillery battery were posted in the rear of the Federal line. A crisp 
firefight soon developed, followed by the entire Union line advancing on foot and driving back the 
Confederates. Colonel B. Huger Rutledge, commanding the 4th Carolina Cavalry, sent an urgent 
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appeal to Butler for help, saying his regiment was being out-flanked. Butler quipped that the colonel 
should “flank back,” then asked Hampton for reinforcements. Hampton ordered Wright’s brigade and 
a section of Captain James Hart’s South Carolina Horse Artillery Battery to support Butler’s men. 

As Wright’s unit arrived on the field, Butler placed it on the left of his line in a patch of heavy 
undergrowth. Wright’s four regiments and one battalion dismounted and fought on foot. Aided by the 
effective fire from the Confederate horse artillery batteries perched atop a hill, Wright’s force made an 
immediate impact on the battle. Hampton later reported that Butler and Wright had “pushed the 
enemy steadily back and I hoped to affect a junction with Lee’s division at Clayton’s Store in a short 
time.” 

John Graffam, 1st Maine. 
Responding to the setback, Torbert committed 
Devin’s brigade to the fight. After connecting with 
Merritt’s left and right flanks, Devin was told that a 
general assault would take place as soon as J. 
Irvin Gregg’s brigade of David M. Gregg’s division 
arrived on the battlefield. The fighting intensified 
while Torbert waited for Gregg. Butler reported that 
his and Wright’s men “were thus struggling with a 
superior force in my front, and the stubborn fight 
[was] kept up at close quarters for several hours.” 

Growing increasingly impatient with the existing 
stalemate, Sheridan, patrolling the Union front, 
sent the 220 troopers of the 9th New York Cavalry, 
Devin’s brigade, in a charge through the enemy 
lines toward the Poindexter House, located on the 
west side of the Fredericksburg Road a mile north 
of Trevilian Station. Although their colonel was 
mortally wounded along with 40 others in the 
charge, the New Yorkers, joined by some of the 
Regulars and the 4th New York Cavalry, managed 
to force back the Confederates, who retreated from 
their wooded position. The grayclad riders were 
driven almost to Trevilian Station, a distance of 
nearly two miles, losing 380 prisoners in the 
process. 

Butler’s and Wright’s retreat for the most part was 
an orderly one, and they took up a position along a 
fence and poured concentrated rifle fire at the 
approaching foe, even mounting a few futile 
counterattacks. At 9:30 am, Gregg’s brigade came 
up on Devin’s left, bringing a new artillery battery 
with it. Continuing to fight his men as infantry, 
since the undergrowth and wooded areas made 
mounted combat impractical, Torbert drove the 

defenders south of Trevilian Station before stopping his pursuit.  
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Custer Strikes Hampton’s Wagon Train 

Clement Waldron, 1st Michigan. 
At noon a lull fell across the battlefield. Although satisfied 
with the battle’s progress so far, Torbert was concerned 
about the whereabouts of his third brigade, commanded 
by Custer. Earlier in the day the 1st Division leader had 
ordered Custer to march on Trevilian Station by way of 
Nunn’s Creek Road, an avenue that ran parallel to and 
between the Marquis Road and the Fredericksburg Road, 
about 1½ miles distant, and outflank any enemy at the 
station. Torbert had received no word from Custer, and 
he was worried about his lost brigade. As it turned out, 
his fears were well founded. 

At 5 am, Custer’s Michigan Brigade had commenced its 
march down Nunn’s Creek Road to Trevilian Station. Not 
long after, elements of the 7th Michigan Cavalry, 
reinforced by the 1st Michigan Cavalry, were attacked 
along the Marquis Road by Wickham’s brigade. After an 
hour of skirmishing, the Virginians withdrew to Louisa 
Court House. Custer resumed his march at 6 am. The 
blue column snaked its way south to the Gordonsville 
Road, which ran through Trevilian Station 1½ miles to the 
west. 

Michael Bowman, 7th Virginia. 
Around 8 am, Hampton’s wagon train was sighted east of 
the station. A charge by the 5th Michigan Cavalry soon 
bagged the caravan, netting several hundred prisoners, 
1,500 horses, and 50 wagons. Alerted by the commotion 
in his rear, Butler hurried some of his men, along with the 
7th and 20th Georgia, back to Trevilian to cut off the 5th 
Michigan. At the same time, Custer sent the 6th Michigan 
to support the 5th. A squadron of the former charged and 
broke the 7th Georgia, which fell back to protect the 
Confederate wagon train. Custer then ordered the 6th 
Michigan to guard the Gordonsville Road near the 
intersection with Nunn’s Road. 

 

 

 
AZSWORDS.C

OM



Custer Encircled 

Learning that the Federals were behind him, Hampton directed Rosser’s brigade and regiments from 
Butler’s and Wright’s commands to form a defensive barrier near Netherland Tavern. Custer had 
driven a wedge between Hampton’s and Lee’s divisions, and even after the latter sent word to Lee to 
hurry and join him Lee took an unaccountably long time to comply. 

Quicker to come to Hampton’s aid was Rosser, who led his Laurel Brigade east. Chew, alerted by 
Hampton to the seriousness of the situation, rushed six cannons to a hill overlooking Trevilian Station 
and began shooting at Custer’s Wolverines. From the north the Jeff Davis Mississippi Legion, in 
Wright’s brigade, pitched into Custer’s men, routing one regiment with a mounted saber charge. The 
Mississippians, in turn, were forced to retreat when attacked by another Federal unit. 

John Anthony, 2nd Virginia. 
Rosser’s men struck Custer’s command in the flank, 
driving it back in confusion and capturing many members 
from the 5th Michigan while almost colliding with Wright’s 
troopers. As his men ran east along the Gordonsville 
Road, Custer joined his attached artillery battery just 
going into position near the rail line. Soon he and the 
guns were surrounded by dismounted Rebels. The Union 
general broke through the attackers, rallied portions of 
his command, and escorted the threatened cannons to 
safety. Custer formed a new battle line supported by the 
artillery a mile east of Trevilian Station at the 
Gordonsville-Nunn’s Creek Road intersection. While 
Custer was forming his defensive position, one of his 
officers mistakenly led the captured Rebel wagons back 
into the Confederate lines. 

Custer had no time to stew over the loss of the wagon 
train—Fitz Lee’s cavaliers were finally entering the battle 
area. Their appearance hemmed in the Michigan Brigade 
on three sides. The 15th Virginia, Lomax’s brigade, 

wasted no time in attacking the Wolverines in the flank, scattering the 1st Michigan Cavalry with 
sabers and pistols and seizing five Union artillery caissons and Custer’s headquarters wagon, as well 
as three of his personal horses. The fighting grew heavier as more of Lomax’s regiments joined the 
fray and Lee’s men connected with Hampton’s flank. Custer’s command was surrounded and fighting 
on every front. 

Following Lomax down the Louisa Court House Road, Wickham’s men eagerly engaged the encircled 
Michiganders. Custer was seemingly everywhere, rallying his men and even leading two frontal 
attacks to recapture a lost artillery piece. During three hours of desperate combat, Custer lost 11 
killed, 51 wounded and 299 captured from his command of fewer than 1,000 men. In addition, he was 
hit in the arm and shoulder by spent bullets. 
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Hampton Orders a General Retreat 

Around noon, Hampton, fearing a renewed attack from Torbert, withdrew Butler and Wright from the 
enemy front and placed them on a low ridge west of the railroad. The Confederate pressure on 
Custer continued. At about the same time, Torbert learned of Custer’s critical situation from one of his 
staff officers, who was able to pierce the Southern cordon surrounding the Michigan Brigade. 

Determined to save Custer and his command, Merritt charged without orders into the Southern 
troopers surrounding Custer, scattering the enemy, and relieving the pressure on Custer. Sheridan 
quickly directed Torbert to strike Butler’s and Wright’s new line with Merritt’s, Devin’s, and Gregg’s 
brigades. The renewed attack on Butler forced him back to a new position Hampton was forming 
around Trevilian Station. With great skill and calm, Butler put his units and those of Wright and 
Rosser into a defensive stance on a low rise near the station, where they drove off another attack by 
Custer. 

The Confederate situation deteriorated after repeated Union assaults created gaps between Butler 
and Wright and drove Fitz Lee’s troops back toward Louisa Court House. Irvin Gregg’s brigade 
appeared then and delivered a decisive blow. At 3 pm, the 10th New York Cavalry, part of Davies’ 
command but attached to Irvin Gregg’s brigade, entered the attack. The 4th and 16th Pennsylvania 
Cavalry, supported by artillery, cleared the area around Netherland Tavern of a Confederate artillery 
battery and dismounted troopers. 

At Trevilian Station, the 1st New Jersey Cavalry routed Wright’s brigade. To the east, Custer faced 
Lee’s division but did not attack due to the heavy fire coming from Lee’s superior numbers. To the 
west of Trevilian Station, Rosser was heavily engaged, holding his own but slowly being encircled. 
Rosser was wounded by a bullet below the knee and evacuated from the field. Not long after, yielding 
to the incessant pressure from his antagonists, Hampton ordered a general retreat several miles to a 
point along the Gordonsville Road but still blocking Sheridan’s route to Gordonsville and its vital rail 
center. Lee’s division fell back toward Louisa Court House. During the day’s fighting, 699 Union 
soldiers were lost, while the Confederates had suffered 530 wounded and killed and an additional 500 
captured. 

The Bloody Angle 

Sheridan’s command spent the night of June 11 camped on the battlefield. The next day the Federals 
tore up five miles of the Virginia Central. Meanwhile, Hampton established a new defensive position a 
mile west of the Gordonsville and Charlottesville Road intersection. It was L-shaped and rested 
behind the Ogg House, with the left anchored along a railroad cut that was reinforced by crude 
breastworks fashioned from fence rails. This part of the line was held by Butler’s men. Wright’s and 
Rosser’s brigades extended the line on the right. Artillery was placed along the entire position. 
Directly across the Gordonsville Road, on the east side of the tracks, defenders manned fortified 
entrenchments topped with fence rails. Danne’s Store marked the southern end of the Confederate 
line and the Gentry farm the northern margin. 

At 3 pm, Sheridan dispatched Torbert’s division, with Davies’ brigade in support, to the west of 
Trevilian Station to conduct a reconnaissance of the enemy positions. At the same time, Custer’s 
command moved along the Gordonsville Road on the left with Merritt’s troopers in the center and 
Devin’s men on the right. Coming upon Butler’s right, Custer dismounted the 6th and 7th Michigan 
Regiments on either side of the rail line and sent them forward. After the Wolverines’ attack stalled in 
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the face of severe small-arms and artillery fire, Custer threw in his remaining two regiments. Realizing 
the superior strength of the enemy’s position, Custer did not press the attack, staying 500 yards away 
from Wright’s lines for the duration of the battle. 

While Custer dithered, at 3:30 pm the reserve brigade came up and connected with Custer’s right 
flank, occupying an area on the north side of the railroad on the reverse side of the ridge joining 
Danne’s Store and Gentry’s farm. Devin’s men massed in Custer’s rear. Merritt’s force, in conjunction 
with three of Devin’s regiments and supported by Williston’s guns, attacked the Confederate left on 
foot after crossing a 500-yard open field. The target of the Union thrust, which came to be called the 
Bloody Angle, was held by the 6th South Carolina and two pieces of artillery. Southern musket and 
cannon fire repulsed the Union assault, and concentrated fire from Hart’s artillery battery silenced the 
enemy guns. 

 
Day one of the battle (right) saw two Union divisions attack north of Trevilian Station, driving back 
Confederate defenders to the Gordonsville Road. Meanwhile, other Confederates attacked Custer’s 
isolated brigade east of the station. On the second day (left), fighting centered on the Ogg House and 
Danne’s Store, where Confederates beat back repeated Union frontal attacks on their L-shaped 
defensive line. 
On the right of Merritt’s line, the 6th Pennsylvania and 2nd U.S. Cavalry fought at the Gentry House 
and in the woods nearby but could not take the homestead. The 6th and 4th New York entered the 
fight below the Gentry farm, but after pushing some of Butler’s men back across a field they too were 
forced to retreat by tremendous small-arms fire. 

By nightfall Butler had driven back six separate Union attacks along the railroad at or near the Bloody 
Angle. A seventh erupted after dark as the 6th South Carolina was replenishing its dwindling supply 

AZSWORDS.C
OM



of ammunition. A compact column of Union soldiers managed to reach the Confederate breastworks 
before breaking and fleeing under heavy fire. 

Just before the Federals’ final attack, Lee’s division joined Hampton’s defenders, and Hampton sent 
Lomax’s and Wickham’s men against the Union right. They were joined by Hampton’s troopers in a 
dismounted charge that crashed into the surprised left flank of Merritt’s division, hurling the bluecoats 
back in confusion. A member of the 6th Virginia Cavalry called the Confederate attack “one of those 
sublime spectacles sometimes witnessed on a battle field.” As Lomax pushed the flank attack, the 
Federals stampeded toward Trevilian Station. Davies’ brigade covered the retreat. Of the 4,000 Union 
troops involved in the second day’s fighting, 38 were killed, 169 wounded, and 37 captured. The vast 
majority of the Union losses were from Torbert’s division. Davies was only lightly engaged and Irvin 
Gregg not at all. 

The Repercussions of Sheridan’s Failure 

With part of his command bled dry and hundreds of wounded in need of being transported back to 
friendly lines, Sheridan had no choice but to retreat. His expedition was a complete failure. He had 
not destroyed the Virginia Central Railroad, not made contact with Hunter, and would not be able to 
escort Hunter’s force back to the Army of the Potomac. 

With Hampton following close behind but unable to mount a major attack of his own due to his men’s 
fatigue and lack of supplies, Sheridan moved slowly eastward toward White House Landing on the 
Pamunkey River, arriving there on June 20 after marching 120 miles and skirmishing daily with 
Hampton’s pursuers. Sheridan crossed the James River and rejoined the Army of the Potomac on 
June 25 after skirmishing with Hampton’s exhausted troopers at White House Landing, St. Peter’s 
Church, and Samaria Church. 

Sheridan’s Trevilian campaign had significant repercussions. His failure to destroy large parts of the 
Central Virginia Railroad and James River Canal allowed vital supplies to reach Lee’s entrenched 
army at Richmond and Petersburg and enabled other Confederate forces under Maj. Gen. Jubal 
Early to move by rail to the Shenandoah Valley and open a new front that diverted vital Federal 
resources from the fight against Robert E. Lee’s army. 

The failure at Trevilian Station also called into question Sheridan’s ability as a cavalry commander. 
Rosser’s claim that Little Phil had displayed no skill at the battle regarding maneuver and that 
Hampton had whipped him was a criticism Sheridan could never fully shake for the rest of the war. 
Fairly or not, the accusations spilled over to some of his division and brigade leaders as well. 

If Sheridan’s reputation was damaged by the battle at Trevilian Station, Butler’s and Rosser’s were 
enhanced. Their steady control of their men and coolness in the face of fire marked both as able 
cavalry commanders. As for Hampton, his stellar performance earned him the overall command of 
the Cavalry Corps on August 11. His subsequent management of Robert E. Lee’s horsemen 
throughout the rest of the war reinforced the wisdom of that appointment. For that, Hampton had Phil 
Sheridan to thank. 
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George Dean’s Muster Records 
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AZSWORDS.C
OM



George Underhill’s Records 

 

AZSWORDS.C
OM



  

 
AZSWORDS.C

OM



 AZSWORDS.C
OM



 AZSWORDS.C
OM



 AZSWORDS.C
OM



 AZSWORDS.C
OM



 AZSWORDS.C
OM



 AZSWORDS.C
OM



 AZSWORDS.C
OM



 AZSWORDS.C
OM



 

AZSWORDS.C
OM



 

AZSWORDS.C
OM



 

AZSWORDS.C
OM



 

AZSWORDS.C
OM



 

AZSWORDS.C
OM



 

AZSWORDS.C
OM



Underhill’s Pension File 
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